### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

)

)

)

Henry Aparicio, Appellant

VS.

The State of Nevada, Respondent. Supreme Court Case No.: 84300

Electronically Filed Jul 28 2022 05:00 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

NEVADA DEFENSE GROUP Damian Sheets, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 10755 Alexis E. Minichini, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 15438 714 S. Fourth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: (702) 988-2600 Facsimile: (702) 988-9500 dsheets@defendingnevada.com Attorney for Appellant

# **NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE**

### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Nevada Supreme Court retains jurisdiction as an appeal from a judgment in a criminal case pursuant to NRS 177.015(3). A timely notice of appeal was filed on February 24, 2022, approximately 28 days after the Amended Judgment of Conviction was filed.

# **NRAP 17 ROUTING STATEMENT**

This matter may be assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals as an appeal from a judgment of conviction based upon a plea of guilty pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(1).

#### **MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES**

### I. Statement of the Issues

1. Whether Appellant is entitled to a new sentencing hearing when the District Court considered Appellant's prior sentence, which had been reversed on appeal, without making any of the requisite factual findings?

#### II. Statement of the Case

On or about August 1, 2019, Appellant entered a Guilty Plea Agreement whereby Appellant pled guilty to two counts of Driving Under the Influence Resulting in Death and one count felony Reckless Driving (Bates 146). Pursuant to negotiations, the State retained the right to argue on the DUI Death counts, but did not oppose concurrent time with the felony Reckless Driving (Bates 146). Sentencing was scheduled for October 18, 2019 (Bates 263).

On October 11, 2019, a member of the Clark County District Attorney's Office sent a total of 101 pages of victim impact letters directly to the department handling Appellant's sentencing (Bates 157). This included letters from family as well as friends, acquaintances, co-workers, supervisors, parent's friends, and a myriad of other individuals. Defense filed a written Objection on October 17, 2019, listing an objection to *forty-six* individuals that submitted letters, but did not qualify as a "victim" under NRS 176.015 (Bates 258).

Sentencing proceeded on October 18, 2019 (Bates 263). Defense Counsel properly preserved objections not only to the victim impact letters, but also to the introduction of several exhibits, posters, and a video of the named victims that was shown to the Court before pronouncing Appellant's sentence (Bates 265).

Notably, despite Defense objection, the District Court permitted every single exhibit and speaker proposed by Respondent; the District Court also made clear on the record that these letters, exhibits and testimony were specifically acknowledged and considered by the Court before determining Appellant's sentence (Bates 319).

Mr. Aparicio was ultimately sentenced as follows:

- Count 1, DUI Death: 7-20 years;
- Count 2, DUI Death: to 7-20 years, consecutive with Count 1;
- Count 3, Reckless Driving: 12-48 months, consecutive with Count 2.

Total aggregate sentence: 15-44 years, with 527 days credit for time served (Bates 327).

Following Mr. Aparicio's sentencing, a timely notice of appeal was filed. There, Appellant argued that the District Court's consideration of the aforementioned victim impact letters and statements, among other things, were improper as they came from those that were not considered a "victim" under Marsy's Law (Bates 329). Ultimately, the Supreme Court held that the District Court erred when it "treated the objected-to *nonvictim* impact letters the same as victim impact letters and *did not determine whether they were relevant and reliable*" (Bates 335) (emphasis added), and remanded the matter for resentencing before a different district court judge (Bates 338).

Mr. Aparicio appeared in District Court for resentencing on January 25, 2022 (Bates 339). After the parties rested on their respective arguments and victim impact speakers had concluded, the District Court, in rendering its sentence, noted that it "considered [the District Court's] prior sentence, and [did not] believe that it was unreasonable." (Bates 412). Mr. Aparicio was ultimately sentenced to the *same exact term* as was previously vacated by this Court:

- Count 1, DUI Death: 7-20 years;
- Count 2, DUI Death: to 7-20 years, consecutive with Count 1;
- Count 3, Reckless Driving: 12-48 months, consecutive with Count 2.

Total aggregate sentence: 15-44 years, with 1,351 days credit for time served (Bates 415).

The Amended Judgment of Conviction was filed on January 26, 2022 (Bates 415), and a timely Notice of Appeal was thereafter filed on February 24, 2022.

8

Appellant respectfully requests this Court find the District Court committed error during sentencing, and remand this matter for a new sentencing hearing before a different department.

### III. Statement of Relevant Facts

On or about June 4, 2018, a preliminary hearing was held in Las Vegas Justice Court, after which Appellant Henry Aparicio was bound over on all charges to the Eighth Judicial District Court (Bates 003). The case was initially presided over by Judge Douglas Smith.

On July 5, 2018, Mr. Aparicio filed a Motion in Limine to Exclude Evidence of Retrograde Extrapolation (Bates 004). The Motion sought to exclude an expert report disclosed by the State because it utilized a retrograde extrapolation formula that took into account only the gender and weight of the subject, which Defense argued to be a violation of this Court's holding in *State v. Dist. Ct. (Armstrong)*, 127 Nev. 927, 267 P.3d 777 (2011). *Armstrong* specifically articulated no less than 15 individual factors that must be considered for a proper retrograde extrapolation analysis (Bates 004). The State filed its Response on July 11, 2018 (Bates 010).

9

On July 20, 2018, Mr. Aparicio also filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and accompanying Appendix (Bates 022). The underlying basis of the Petition argued the State failed to establish by slight or marginal evidence that Mr. Aparicio was in actual physical control of the vehicle (a passenger was also preset in the vehicle). Despite a plethora of witnesses being presented at preliminary hearing, Mr. Aparicio was sitting on the curb when law enforcement arrived, and nobody (not even witnesses who observed the accident) placed Mr. Aparicio behind the wheel of a vehicle. Although the State elicited testimony that Mr. Aparicio asked if he had killed people, crossexamination clarified that he asked this question to the officer *after* the officer had told Mr. Aparicio that he was driving, even though he never admitted to driving because he could not remember.

The Motion to Exclude Retrograde Extrapolation was heard on July 23, 2018 (Bates 047). At that time, the Court concluded that retrograde extrapolation was "perfectly reasonable" because the State had additional evidence that pertained to the *Armstrong* factors – even though the expert did not when he conducted the retrograde analysis and determined the extrapolated BAC results (Bates 085). Judge Smith found the retrograde extrapolation using Mr. Aparicio's gender and weight to be completely

admissible, and as part of his decision stated on the record that Mr. Aparicio "was doing over 100 miles an hour, killed two people" (Bates 087).

The State filed its Return to the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on July 24, 2018 (Bates 049). The Petition was heard at the first calendar call on August 8, 2018. The writ was denied solely because "it was crystal clear that the testing of the blood was – would satisfy *Armstrong*. Absolutely crystal clear" (Bates 100). Judge Smith never addressed the actual physical control issue.

Perhaps most significantly, after the Judge Smith ruled the State's retrograde extrapolation expert was admissible, Defense filed an Ex Parte Motion for Investigative Fees to present a rebuttal expert. The Motion included a financial affidavit that showed Mr. Aparicio was in custody with a negative debt-to-income ratio. However, Judge Smith denied the request for fees, claiming an "insufficient showing of indigency." Specifically, the Order signed by the Court stated:

THE COURT HEREBY FINDS, pursuant to the Ex Parte Motion, that Defendant provided a total monthly income in the amount of \$1,084, total monthly debts in the amount of \$1,515, and total assets in the amount of \$400,

THE COURT HEREBY ORDERS Defendant's Ex Parte Motion for Authorization of Employment of Investigator and Payment of Fees is **DENIED** for an insufficient showing of indigency (Bates 102). On February 6, 2019, after thorough review and consideration of the record, Defense filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge Smith (Bates 059); the Motion and supporting Affidavit was based in part on the evidentiary rulings that exceeded the bounds of law; statements made on the record that unequivocally indicated a pre-disposition of guilt; and the denial of investigative fees for an "insufficient showing of indigency" after expressly acknowledging (in the same order) a negative debt to income ratio, thereby denying Mr. Aparicio the ability to present his own expert even though Judge Smith had just ruled the State's expert was admissible.

The State filed an Opposition to the Motion to Disqualify on February 26, 2019, and Defense thereafter filed a Motion to Strike the State's Opposition for lack of standing (Bates 104; 113). The Motion to Disqualify was heard before Chief Judge Linda Bell on March 19, 2019, where both the State and Defense were permitted argument. The matter was taken under advisement (Bates 121).

However, before a ruling was made on the Motion to Disqualify, Judge Smith announced his early retirement. A few days after the announcement, the Motion to Disqualify was denied as moot. A written Decision and Order was filed on April 5, 2019 (Bates 122).

The same day, Defense filed a Motion for Reconsideration, asking the disqualification still be considered to the limited extent that bias tainted the evidentiary rulings in Mr. Aparicio's case, and therefore he should be entitled to a rehearing on the Motions and Petition (Bates 128). Chief Judge Bell stated she lacked jurisdiction to order rehearing of the Motions that were filed, and transferred the case back to the originating department before the newly appointed Judge Cristina Silva (Bates 132).

On July 24, 2019, Defense filed a Motion to Rehear the Motions in Limine, a renewed request for Investigative Fees, and a Motion to Continue Trial (Bates 133; 139). At the upcoming Calendar Call, the State opposed the continuance request; the State indicated trial would last at least 10 days and have approximately 30 witnesses (Bates 145). Defense noted he would be ineffective if forced to proceed to trial under the circumstances (Bates 145). The Court indicated at the bench the trial would not be continued, and the case was set for a status check on trial readiness the very next day (Bates 145).

Left without a viable defense due to the prior rulings by Judge Smith and without being afforded an opportunity to hire or present expert witnesses to rebut the State after the request to continue his trial was denied, Mr. Aparicio had few options left but to accept the State's offered negotiations. He did so at the status check on August 1, 2019 (Bates 146). The matter was set for sentencing on October 18, 2019.

One week prior to sentencing, the State sent to the Court directly via email (with Defense Counsel CC'd) a packet of 101 pages of victim impact statements (Bates 157). On October 17, 2018, Defense filed a written Objection to 46 individuals who had submitted letters but did not qualify as a "victim" under the statutory definition in NRS 176.015 (Bates 258).

Six different objections were made during the sentencing hearing with regards to the presentation of improper evidence or testimony; all were overruled. First, addressing the written objection regarding the letters sent to the Court:

[THE COURT]: Mr. Sheets, I also received your objection to the consideration of victim impact statements. I have reviewed your objection and I'm going to overrule your objection. I understand that you're citing to who can make a statement in court, but Article I, Section 8A of the Nevada Constitution broadly defines victim to anyone who's impacted by the crime, and therefore I'm accepting those victim impact statements and I have read each and every one of them that was submitted to me, as well as the victim impact letters on behalf of the family (Bates 265).

14

Second was the objection to showing the Court a video that depicted the named

victims that was brought by one of the victim speakers:

MR. SHEETS: It's my understanding that one of the victims has brought a video – or one of the speakers has brought a video of the victim and their life and everything. I think for the record I probably would be objecting to it just because the statute allows them to speak but not to present exhibits and the like.

THE COURT: Where in the exhibit – where in the statute does it say they cannot present exhibits?

MR. SHEETS: Well, it doesn't say they can't.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. SHEETS: It only says they have a right to come forth and speak.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. SHEETS: And so I would be basically arguing the statute doesn't permit the exhibits just – I mean, I understand where you may go with it –

THE COURT: Yeah.

MR. SHEETS: – but I just – to make a clean record.

THE COURT: Well, I appreciate that and I'm going to overrule the objection. I think that this is incorporating in their statement (Bates 284)

Third, the objection for the speaker's statement that Defendant had "purposely

delayed" the proceedings with "wild lies" due to filing pre-trial Motions:

[SPEAKER]: I say these things, Your Honor, not out of hate or animus towards this person or because the fact that hasn't shown one ounce of remorse throughout this long and drawn out ordeal. An ordeal that has been purposely delayed now for over a year and a half because of wild theories of a third driver or insulting the intelligence of law enforcement officers who have investigated too many crashed like this over the years using proven scientific methods.

Only when he realized that there were no wild lies he could come up with, that the evidence wouldn't refute, did he accept guilty plea. He has known since this crash how guilty he is but he refused to accept responsibility for his actions.

Your Honor, for you to accepting the appalling recommendations from Parole and Probation that show a repugnant disregard for the value of human life.

MR. SHEETS: At this point, Your Honor, I'm going to have to object. SPEAKER: Wow. MR. SHEETS: I've let him go for a while but he's – SPEAKER: Wow. MR. SHEETS: – the victim is allowed to speak about the impact on them – SPEAKER: Are you kidding me? MR. SHEETS: – and not specifically about sentences, Your Honor. THE COURT: Mr. Sheets, your objection is overruled. They're entitled to express how this crime has impacted them. You may proceed (Bates 289).

Fourth was the objection to additional photographs and exhibits being

presented to the Court:

[SPEAKER]: As – I'll just show you a picture, if I may. THE COURT: Sure.

MR. SHEETS: And, Your Honor, this is – just to make sure the record is clear, we discussed something similar at the bench with exhibits, I – just for the record, there's the objection and maybe after – after the sentencing then we can do an offer of proof on it so the record's clean.

THE COURT: Understood. THE SPEAKER: Okay. THE COURT: Thank you. THE SPEAKER: This is Christa and Damaso. THE COURT: That's a great picture (Bates 293).

Fifth was another objection to speaker commentary about the recommendation

of Parole and Probation:

[SPEAKER]: I truly am crushed and completely appalled actually at the 3 to 10 year recommendation by Parole and Probation. They're telling me that my daughter, Christa's life, is only worth possibly as little as 3 years in prison and the same for Damaso. How is that Parole and Probation has to use a point system that takes every human aspect out of their decision to come up with a recommendation for sentencing? MR. SHEETS: And, just for the record, the same objection as with the prior one, Your Honor. THE COURT: Your objection is noted (Bates 310).

Sixth and lastly, was another objection to adverse comments regarding Mr.

Aparicio's exercise of his rights with pre-trial litigation:

[SPEAKER]: He has dishonored and wasted the Court's time by not accepting his responsibility for his choices and his actions. For 15 months he did that. How can he be trusted on our roads? He outright lied, even about driving the car.<sup>1</sup> And I know, Your Honor, you weren't on this case from the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Defense believes this is in reference to the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus filed by Defense Counsel that alleged the State failed to establish Mr. Aparicio was in actual physical control of the vehicle.

beginning but there are things I'm going to say that happened in the beginning, in the courtrooms even. MR. SHEETS: Again, I'm objecting, this is way beyond victim impact, Your Honor. THE SPEAKER: He outright lied – THE COURT: I'm going to overrule the objection. THE SPEAKER: –about driving the car, the murder weapon he used to kill our beloved Christa and Damaso. He has tried for the past 17 months to get off scot-free, or 15 months I should say, as though some sort of sick joke (Bates 312).

Mr. Aparicio was sentenced as outlined above, with the Judgment of

Conviction filed on October 29, 2019 (Bates 327). A timely notice of appeal was

filed thereafter.

On appeal, Appellant argued that the District Court's consideration of the aforementioned victim impact letters and statements, among other things, were improper as they came from those that were not considered a "victim" pursuant to Marsy's Law (Bates 329). This Court ultimately held that the District Court erred when it "treated the objected-to *nonvictim* impact letters the same as victim impact letters and *did not determine whether they were relevant and reliable*" (Bates 335) (emphasis added), and remanded the matter for resentencing before a different district court judge (Bates 338).

Mr. Aparicio appeared in District Court for resentencing on January 25, 2022 (Bates 339). In addition to the three victim impact speakers that appeared in court, three victim impact letters had been provided as well, among others

(Bates 367). In determining that the three victim impact letters were "relevant and reliable", the only basis provided by the District Court was "I feel like the three letters that I've reviewed are sufficient." (Bates 368). No other factual finding was made as to the relevance and reliability of the three letters.

After argument and victim impact statements, the District Court, notwithstanding this Court's prior ruling on appeal, opined that it considered [the District Court's] prior sentence, and [did not] believe that it was unreasonable[]" (Bates 412). No other factual findings were made in conjunction with the District Court's consideration of the prior sentence. Mr. Aparicio was then sentenced to the *same exact term* as was previously vacated by this Court. An Amended Judgment of Conviction and timely Notice of Appeal were filed. This appeal follows.

# IV. Summary of the Argument

Mr. Aparicio respectfully requests this Court remand the matter for a new sentencing hearing before a different presiding Judge. The prior sentence had been vacated because this Court found that the District Court had "based its decision to consider the statements, at least in part, on a mistaken interpretation of the law[.]" (Bates 337). This Court ultimately determined that "[o]f the approximately 50 letters submitted [at the first sentencing], fewer than five came from individuals clearly meeting the statutory or constitutional definition of 'victim.'" (Bates 336); "[t]he district court's error was not harmless." (Bates 335).

As this Court found the District Court abused its discretion when it considered each and every victim impact letter regardless if they met the statutory or constitutional definition of "victim" at the first sentencing, Appellant respectfully argues that it was likewise an abuse of discretion for the District Court at the resentencing hearing to have considered the prior sentence without making the requisite factual findings of "relevance and reliability" as was specifically ordered by this Court on remand (Bates 337).

Therefore, the District Court erred when it considered the prior sentence without making the requisite factual findings and as such, Appellant respectfully requests this Court remand the matter for a new sentencing hearing before a different presiding Judge.

#### ARGUMENT

While Appellant's Counsel recognizes the strong emotional tension that comes inherent in criminal cases involving death, it is for this reason that rules which minimize that emotional influence must be strictly adhered to, with an even stronger force, to prevent these emotional passions from encroaching on the Defendant's rights. Appellant submits that in this instance of Mr. Aparicio's sentencing, emotions overruled law, and he is entitled to a new sentencing hearing.

Appellant's sentencing hearing presented six objections that can be sorted into the following three classifications: first, who is a "victim" that can submit victim impact statements to the court; second, in what form and procedure can a victim impact statement be submitted; and third, what topics can speakers lawfully address in a victim impact statement.

### A. Definition of a "Victim"

Appellant's sentencing hearing presents a unique issue with regards to the recent amendment to the Nevada State Constitution, and how this language comports or conflicts with existing statutory law; however, the two provisions can be read together in harmony and in a manner that neither limits the Defendant's rights nor the Victim's rights. Prior to the constitutional amendment, presentation of victim impact speakers were governed by NRS 176.015, which states, in pertinent part: 3. After hearing any statements presented pursuant to subsection 2 and before imposing sentence, the court shall afford the victim an opportunity to:

(a) Appear personally, by counsel or by personal representative; and

(b) Reasonably express any views concerning the crime, the person responsible, the impact of the crime on the victim and the need for restitution.

(d) "Victim" includes:

(1) A person, including a governmental entity, against whom a crime has been committed;

(2) A person who has been injured or killed as a direct result of the commission of a crime; and

(3) A relative of a person described in subparagraph (1) or (2).

The recently enacted constitutional amendment, Nevada

Constitution, Art. I § 8A, also known as "Marsy's Law," states in

pertinent part:

...

1. Each person who is the victim of a crime is entitled to the following rights:

(h) To be reasonably heard, upon request, at any public proceeding, including any delinquency proceeding, in any court involving release or sentencing, and at any parole proceeding.

... (j) To provide information to any public officer or employee conducting a presentence investigation concerning the impact of the offense on the victim and the victim's family and any sentencing recommendations before the sentencing of the defendant.

7. As used in this section, "victim" means any person directly and proximately harmed by the commission of a

criminal offense under any law of this State. If the victim is less than 18 years of age, incompetent, incapacitated or deceased, the term includes the legal guardian of the victim or a representative of the victim's estate, member of the victim's family or any other person who is appointed by the court to act on the victim's behalf, except that the court shall not appoint the defendant as such a person.

In this case, numerous statements were submitted and considered by the District Court prior to announcing sentence. Statements were submitted by friends, co-workers, work supervisors, and cousins and other family members who do not qualify as "relatives" under NRS 176.015(5)(b). None of these individuals would qualify as a "victim" under Nevada statute, leaving only potential qualification under the recently enacted constitutional amendment.

While the constitutional definition is significantly more vague than the statutory definition, the context of Art. I, § 8A, as well as other states that have enacted similar laws, make it apparent that a "victim" for purposes of the rights in the constitutional amendments means a *direct* victim of the offense, certain immediate family members, and the victim's personal representative.

Only eight states, including Nevada, have enacted the constitutional amendment known as "Marsy's Law." Given the relative novelty of the amendments, which first passed in California, few cases have been published regarding interpretation of ambiguous provisions. However, three states – California, Montana, and Ohio – have addressed the definition of a "victim" under Marsy's Law.

The most recent analysis comes from Ohio. Specifically, the Ohio Appellate Court held that a business entity, rather than a natural person, could be a "victim" under Marsy's law because it had suffered *direct* economic loss due to the defendant's criminal conduct. Notably, the definition of "victim" in Ohio's Marsy's Law is very similar to the definition enacted in Nevada:

On February 5, 2018, the amendment to Article I, Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution, known as Marsy's Law, became effective. The amendment expands the rights afforded to victims of crimes.... Importantly, Marsy's Law defines the term "victim" as "a person against whom the criminal offense or delinquent act is committed or who is directly and proximately harmed by the commission of the offense or act." Ohio Constitution, Article I, Section 10a(D).

Applying the definition of victim found in Marsy's Law, we agree with the trial court and find that Pack Rat meets the definition of victim for purposes of restitution. In this case, Ms. Jones used the credit card she had stolen from her employer to deceive Pack Rat into delivering its product to Ms. Jones. While Ms. Jones's employer was a victim of her crime, so was Pack Rat, which suffered actual harm; i.e., economic loss, as a proximate result of Ms. Jones's criminal conduct. *State v. Jones*, 2020-Ohio-81 (Jan. 15, 2020).

The Supreme Court of Montana addressed the definition of a "victim" as

well when ruling on the constitutionality of Montana's Marsy's Law enactment.

The Court held:

The definition of "victim," CI-116(4)(b), includes the victim, who has suffered direct or threatened harm, and his or her "spouse, parent, grandparent, child, sibling, grandchild, or guardian." Victim also includes someone with a "relationship to the victim that is substantially similar" to the relationship of a spouse, parent, grandparent, child, sibling, grandchild, or guardian. *Mont. Ass'n of Counties ("MACo") v. State*, OP 17-0358, 2017 MT 267 (Nov. 1, 2017).

Lastly, the state which has addressed the issue in the greatest depth is

California, the proverbial birthplace of Marsy's Law. California's definition of

"victim" in Article I, § 28 of the California Constitution states:

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