#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\_\_\_\_

Electronically Filed Aug 24 2022 09:37 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

HENRY APARICIO,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 84300

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Appellant is not entitled to a third sentencing based on errors occurring at the first.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

In this direct appeal of his Amended Judgment of Conviction, Petitioner challenges the definition of "victim," the form of the victim impact statements, the topics discussed by the victim impact speakers, and the district court's consideration of the prior, reversed, sentence. AOB at 20-42.

Nearly all of Appellant's complaints refer to the first sentencing, not the second. The vast majority of the opening brief in this appeal of Appellant's second sentence was directly copied from the opening brief in the first appeal. Since the first sentence was overturned on appeal, it is no longer germane. Appellant provides no cogent argument to explain the relevance of his earlier arguments when those have been resolved.

Many of the assertions are not supported by citations to the record. NRAP 28(a)(5). A party seeking review bears the responsibility "to cogently argue, and present relevant authority" to support his assertions. Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Restaurant, 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006); Dept. of Motor Vehicles and Public Safety v. Rowland, 107 Nev. 475, 479, 814 P.2d 80, 83 (1991) (defendant's failure to present legal authority resulted in no reason for the district court to consider defendant's claim); Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) (an arguing party must support his arguments with relevant authority and cogent argument; "issues not so presented need not be addressed");

Randall v. Salvation Army, 100 Nev. 466, 470-71, 686 P.2d 241, 244 (1984) (court may decline consideration of issues lacking citation to relevant legal authority); Holland Livestock v. B & C Enterprises, 92 Nev. 473, 533 P.2d 950 (1976) (issues lacking citation to relevant legal authority do not warrant review on the merits).

District courts have "wide discretion" in sentencing decisions, and "[s]o long as the record does not demonstrate prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence," their decisions will not be disturbed. Allred v. State, 120 Nev. 410, 420, 92 P.2d 1246, 1253 (2004) (quoting Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976)). Courts can consider "any reliable and relevant evidence at the time of sentencing." NRS 176.015(6). The Nevada Supreme Court will not vacate a judgment of conviction or sentencing decision unless the error affected the defendant's substantial rights. NRS 178.598. An abuse of discretion occurs when "no reasonable judge could reach a similar conclusion under the same circumstances." Leavitt v. Siems, 130 Nev. 503, 309, 330 P.3d 1, 5 (2014).

#### A. Definition of "Victim"

This section is verbatim the same as in the first Opening Brief. <u>Compare</u> AOB at 21-32 <u>with Aparicio v. State</u>, (Appellant's Opening Brief, filed April 10, 2020) Docket No. 80072, at 20-31. Appellant makes no argument, cogent or otherwise, as

to why occurrences in the first sentencing should be considered in an appeal of the second.

NRS 176.015(5)(d) defines "victim" as "(1) A person, including a governmental entity, against whom a crime has been committed; (2) A person who has been injured or killed as a direct result of the commission of a crime; and (3) A relative of a person described in subparagraph (1) or (2)." Under NRS 176.015(5)(b)(1)-(4), a "relative" includes "[a] spouse, parent, grandparent or stepparent," "[a] natural born child, stepchild or adopted child," "[a] grandchild, brother, sister, half brother or half sister," and "[a] parent of a spouse."

Under Marsy's Law, "victim" is defined as "any person directly and proximately harmed by the commission of a criminal offense under any law of this State." Nev. Const. art. 1, § 8A(7) (emphasis added). The clause states further that "[i]f the victim is ... deceased, the term [victim also] includes the legal guardian of the victim or a representative of the victim's estate, member of the victim's family or any other person who is appointed by the court to act on the victim's behalf." Id. (emphasis added).

Aparicio v. State, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 62, 496 P.3d 592, 595 (2021)

At the second sentencing, the judge considered letters from two of the brothers and the grandmother of one of Appellant's victims. 2 AA 368. The judge said, "Those were the three that I found to be victim letters that complied with the statutes and were actual family members." 2 AA 368. The sentencing court felt no need to consider the other letters submitted: "I feel like the three letters that I've reviewed are sufficient." 2 AA 368.

The victim impact speakers were the father and mother of Christa Puente, one of the victims, and the father of Damaso Puente, the other. Christa's father read a letter from her brother, 2 AA 370-76, as well as his own letter, 2 AA 377-80.

Damaso's father spoke. 2 AA 381. Christa's mother read a letter from her sister, 2 AA 382-88, as well as spoke on her own behalf, 2 AA 389-411.

These are victims as defined by NRS 176.015(3)(d)(3), by Marsy's Law, and by this Court in this case. Trial counsel did not object to the definition of any of the letters or the speakers as victims. Appellant offers no argument as to why these people were not victims under the statute.

### **B.** Form of Victim Impact Statements

Again, this section merely duplicates the first Opening Brief. <u>Compare AOB</u> at 32-38 <u>with Aparicio v. State</u>, (Appellant's Opening Brief, filed April 10, 2020) Docket No. 80072, at 31-37. Appellant makes no argument, cogent or otherwise, as to why occurrences in the first sentencing should be considered in an appeal of the *second*.

At the second sentencing, the impact of the crimes on the surviving family members was presented to the court in two forms: through written letters and through speakers. These forms are contemplated in NRS 176.015(3)(a), which permit a victim to "appear personally, by counsel or by personal representative." Nowhere in the statute is the form of the appearance constrained, nor does the statute require the Department of Parole and Probation to serve as a filtering device. The Department's obligation to include victim impact statements under NRS 176.145(1)(c) is limited to "the extent that such information is available from the victim or other sources."

In other words, if the victim does not provide the information to the Department, the Department is not responsible for obtaining the information.

Though a video clip was contemplated at the second hearing, it was never played and the judge did not see it. 2 AA 346, 411. Though trial counsel objected to the video that was not introduced, he did not otherwise object to the form of the victim impact statements. Appellant offers no argument as to the form of the statements.

#### C. Topics Discussed by Victim Impact Speakers

Yet again, this section merely duplicates the first Opening Brief. Compare AOB at 38-42 with Aparicio v. State, (Appellant's Opening Brief, filed April 10, 2020) Docket No. 80072, at 37-41. Appellant makes no argument, cogent or otherwise, as to why occurrences in the first sentencing should be considered in an appeal of the *second*.

With two exceptions, the victim impact speakers only expressed their views on "the crime, the person responsible, the impact of the crime on the victim and the need for restitution" as contemplated by NRS 176.015(3)(b). When Christa's mother mentioned Appellant tried to intimidate her by staring her down in the courtroom, defense counsel objected. 2 AA 403. The objection was sustained. This remark was not raised in this appeal.

The second exception to the topics under NRS 176.015(3)(b) occurred when Christa's mother said the justice system failed the victims. 2 AA 407. The court granted the victim's mother a little leeway. 2 AA 407. This remark was not raised in this appeal. Appellant offers no argument as to the topics discussed.

#### **D.** Consideration of the Original Sentence

Appellant alleges that because the first sentence was reversed, it was unsuitable for the second sentencing judge to know what was previously sentenced.

AOB at 42.

Thus it would follow that the District Court erred when, at Mr. Aparicio's resentencing, it considered the prior sentence because the prior sentence had already been found by this Court to be based, in part, on an erroneous interpretation of Marsy's Law and ultimately an abuse of discretion.

#### AOB at 42.

He provides no legal authority to support an assertion that a subsequent judge must be completely walled off from any prior happenings in the case.

Trial counsel did not object at sentencing to the court's judicial notice of the previous sentence, thus preventing that court from addressing the issue. Arguments not raised below are waived and should not be considered on appeal. See Davis v. State, 107 Nev. 600, 606, 817 P.2d 1169, 1173 (1991) (holding that this court need not consider arguments raised on appeal that were not presented to the district court

in the first instance), overruled on other grounds by Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 103 P.3d 25 (2004).

Appellant complains the judge issued a "blanket statement of sufficiency" when the court determined the three letters from defined victims sufficed, eliminating any need to determine if the other letters were also admissible because they were relevant and reliable. AOB at 43. He claims the judge "did not conduct the proper analysis into the victim impact letters provided." AOB at 43.

This Court explained that only if letters are received from people not defined as victims under Marsy's law do they then need to be evaluated to see if they are "relevant and reliable." 2 AA 335. The entire point of Marsy's law is that victims of crime have a right to be heard. Their letters must be considered so the victims of Appellant's crimes can have a voice. Further, the court is only required to consider the relevance and reliability of letters when defense counsel objects. 2 AA 334. Counsel here appropriately did not object to the letters from people who were defined as victims under the statute.

Appellant is not entitled to a third sentencing when the second sentencing court considered unobjected-to letters from statutorily defined victims.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that this Court AFFIRM Appellant's Amended Judgment of Conviction.